5

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
DEC 05 2016
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Case №2016-000745

The State, Respondent,

vs.

Maria Todd Martin Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

C. RAUCH WISE
Attorney at Law
305 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
(864) 229-5010
SC Bar #006188

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Question I: Did the lower Court err in finding that the State had the right to appeal a pre-trial ruling suppressing the video of the Defendant refusing to take the field sobriety test when the case of the State was not substantially impaired by the suppression of the evidence?

Question II: Did the lower court err in finding that the magistrate judge abused his discretion in excluding the refusal of Maria Martin to take the field sobriety tests?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Rutledge Martin, magistrate for Greenwood County issued a written order dated July 30, 2014 suppressing the refusal of Maria Martin to take a field sobriety test in a driving under the influence trial. The State filed a notice of appeal on July 30, 2014. A hearing was held in this appeal before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker on September 2, 2015. By Order dated October 23, 2015, Judge Hocker affirmed the ruling of Magistrate Martin. The State filed a Motion for Re-consideration on November 5, 2015. A hearing was held on this Motion on January 14, 2016. By Order of March 30, 2016, Judge Hocker reversed his prior ruling. Ms. Martin filed her Notice of Appeal on April 7, 2016.

FACTS

State Trooper Jordan N. Sinclair stopped Maria Martin on June 3, 2011 in the City of Greenwood. At the stop, Ms. Martin refused to take any field sobriety tests. She twice stated a simple "no" when asked to take the test. The third time she stated "No. If I was straight, I couldn't pass it." Order dated July 30, 2014 at 2. At the first trial July 25-26, 2012, Magistrate Rutledge Martin excluded the evidence of the refusal of Ms. Martin to take the test. This trial ended with a hung jury with three voting guilty and three not guilty. Order dated July 30, 2014, at 1.

The State called the case for trial on July 16, 2014 at which time the attorney for Ms. Martin again renewed his motion to exclude the refusal to take the field sobriety tests. The State announced in advance that they would appeal an adverse ruling as it believed the exclusion of the field sobriety test refusal significantly impaired its ability to try the case. Order dated July 30, 2014 at 5. Magistrate Martin issued a written Order dated July 30, 2014 suppressing the refusal

to take the field sobriety tests.

The State filed its appeal. After two hearings, Judge Donald B. Hocker then reversed the ruling of Magistrate Martin.

Question I

Did the lower Court err in finding that the State had the right to appeal a pre-trial ruling suppressing the video of the Defendant refusing to take the field sobriety test when the case of the State was not substantially impaired by the suppression of the evidence?

South Carolina Code § 14-3-330, as interpreted in *State v. McKnight*, 287 S.C. 167, 168, 337 S.E.2d 208, 209 (1985), is the only means for an appeal by the State in the State of South Carolina. *McKnight* provides “A pre-trial order granting the suppression of evidence which significantly impairs the prosecution of a criminal case is directly appealable under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2)(a) (1976).” The statute provides for an appeal “(2) An order affecting a substantial right made in an action when such order (a) in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action, (b) grants or refuses a new trial or (c) strikes out an answer or any part thereof or any pleading in any action.” In this case the ruling by the magistrate judge did not affect a substantial right that had the effect of dismissing the action. The record in this case establishes this fact. When the case was originally called for trial on July 25-26, 2012, the magistrate in his ruling excluded the field sobriety test. The State elected to proceed to trial resulting in the 3-3 hung jury. Rec. On App. At 78-79. As the South Carolina Supreme Court has said “Under section 14-3-330(2)(a), an interlocutory order is immediately appealable if the order affects “a substantial right” and “in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action.” *State v. Samuel*, 411 S.C. 602, 604, 769 S.E.2d 662, 663 (2015).

The State has not argued below how the suppression of the field sobriety test “in effect determines the action” as required by the statute and case precedent. The State below simply

argued that they had to fight the case “with one hand tied behind our back.” Rec. on App. at 27, ll 9-10. Counsel for Ms. Martin argued that the magistrate had found his ruling did not significantly impair the ability of the State to try the case Rec. on App. at 28, ll 18-20. The magistrate had the opportunity to see the case tried without the evidence and was, therefore, in the best position to make such a determination. In his rulings dated March 30, 2016 (Rec. on App. at 90, and October 23, 2015 (Rec. on App. At 78) the Common Pleas judge did not make a finding that or explain how the ruling of the magistrate “determines the action and prevents a judgment.” In the first order the Common Pleas judge simply stated “The State had the right to file the interlocutory appeal on July 30, 2014 to challenge Judge Martin’s ruling.” Rec. on App. At 79.

As to whether the ruling can be appealed, this case should be controlled by *State v. Samuel*, 411 S.C. 602, 769 S.E.2d 662 (2015). In *Samuel*, the lower court suppressed one of several statements the defendant had given. The South Carolina Supreme Court properly held that the statement “did not significantly impair the prosecution's ability to try Petitioner's case.” *Id.* at 602, 605, 769 S.E.2d at 663. In the present case the arresting officer still is able to tell the jury his impression of the condition of Ms. Martin. The State was able to introduce her refusal to take the breath test. The evidence excluded did not involve her condition being shown on the road side video. All that were excluded was three verbal statements. The exclusion of these statements did not and could not substantially impair the ability of the State to go forward.

Question II

Did the lower court err in finding that the magistrate judge abused his discretion in excluding the refusal of Maria Martin to take the filed sobriety tests?

Twice when asked to exclude the field sobriety test, the magistrate in this matter considered the arguments of counsel and ruled that the refusal of the person arrested for driving under the influence should be excluded. He ruled “[N]o defendant is ever required to voluntarily provide verbal or physical evidence to a police officer in order to help the police officer make a better case against the defendant.” Rec. on App. at 57. The appellate courts review the exclusion of evidence under an abuse of discretion standard. *State v. Kirton*, 381 S.C. 7, 23, 671 S.E.2d 107, 115 (Ct. App. 2008) (“A court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be reversed by this Court absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error which results in prejudice to the defendant.”).

In South Carolina a person is not required to participate in a field sobriety test. The legislature very specifically provided “A refusal to take a field sobriety test does not constitute disobeying a police officer.” S.C. Code § 56-5-2953(A)(1)(b). The legislature further recognizes they can pass a law requiring a person to take a field sobriety test. *See*, S.C. Code § 56-5-2948 (providing that field sobriety tests are required when a death is caused by the motor vehicle incident.)

The State argued below that as the legislature required that the field sobriety tests be videotaped, they were mandating that the refusal to take the test be video taped and therefore it is admissible. Rec. on App. at 32, ll 1-9. What the State fails to consider is that the

requirement that the traffic stop be video taped does not mean the legislature intended for everything on the video to be admissible. For example, suppose a person refuses to take a field sobriety test and says "Last time I was arrested for DUI, I did not do well on those test therefore I am not taking them." The defendant would have refused to take the field sobriety test, but clearly the statement would not be admissible. The requirement of video taping the scene does not make it automatically admissible. The legislature never even suggested that the rules of evidence should be abandoned in applying the statute.

The legislature also knows how to make a refusal to take a test admissible. In S.C. Code § 56-5-2950(B) the legislature specifically provided that the refusal to take a breath test can be used against the defendant. No such provision appears in the video taping of the traffic stop. This Court cannot read into the law a requirement that is not there.

Here is the dilemma. A person has an absolute right to refuse a field sobriety test. The legislature has recognized this fact. A person may refuse a field sobriety test for a variety of reasons, only one of which is to cover up his obvious intoxication. A person may have consumed some alcohol but does not have the physical dexterity to perform well on the tests and does not want to appear materially and appreciably impaired when they are not. A person may not know how well they will perform on the test and simply does not want to give the State any aid in prosecuting the case. A person may decide based upon their age they do not want to perform a field sobriety test. If a person has an absolute right to refuse the test for a valid reason or any reason, why does the State receive a benefit from a person invoking a right that everyone agrees he has? This is truly the proverbial dilemma of "being between a rock and a hard place." The person either tries the test and performs poorly for even a reason not related

to intoxication or the person refuses and the jury is generally told by the prosecuting attorney “only a drunk would refuse.” Such a position in a free society is untenable.

The Courts of our country have long held that if a defendant invokes his right to remain silent, such may not be used against him. *Doyle v. Ohio*, 426 U.S. 610, 618 (1976)(“ [W]hile it is true that the Miranda warnings contain no express assurance that silence will carry no penalty, such assurance is implicit to any person who receives the warnings.”). One State has held the right to refuse a search is not admissible. *Padgett v. State*, 590 P.2d 432, 434 (1979)(“It was error to admit testimony of defendant's refusal [to consent to a search], and error to comment on it during summation.”).

The question of whether a defendant can refuse to take a field sobriety test has been addressed in many states. The Oregon Supreme Court has said:

Evidence of refusal to take a field sobriety test is also communicative, but it is in a different category from evidence of flight or evidence of refusal to provide required non-communicative evidence. There is no statutory or other legal requirement that a driver take the field sobriety tests, either before or after arrest. While an officer may properly request a driver to do so, the officer may go no further. Because defendant had no obligation to take the test, there could also be no conditions placed on his refusal. Use of the fact that he refused enables the state to obtain communicative evidence to which it would otherwise have no right, as a result of defendant's refusal to provide noncommunicative evidence to which it also had no right. The situation is thus a true Hobson's Choice.¹

State v. Green, 68 Or. App. 518, 525 26, 684 P.2d 575, 579 (1984) overruled on other grounds by *State v. Panichello*, 71 Or. App. 519, 692 P.2d 720 (1984)

¹ The Court used the phrase “Hobson’s choice.” This phrase actually means no choice at all and not one of two bad choices. <http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/Hobson%27s%20choice> (Visited July 6, 2016)

Later the Oregon Court explained it this way:

For example, in response to a police officer's request to perform field sobriety tests, if defendant were to say, "I am exercising my right to remain silent under Article I, section 12, of the Oregon Constitution," that response would be treated as a refusal to perform the tests, and the refusal would be admissible as substantive evidence of guilt under ORS 813.135 and ORS 813.136. It is fundamental that the assertion of the right against self-incrimination cannot be considered as evidence of guilt.

State v. Fish, 321 Or. 48, 61, 893 P.2d 1023, 1030 (1995)²

Many other states have ruled that a refusal is admissible. *People v. Berg*, 92 N.Y.2d 701, 685 N.Y.S.2d 906, 708 N.E.2d 979, 982 (1999); *Farmer v. Commonwealth*, 12 Va.App. 337, 404 S.E.2d 371, 373 (1991); *City of Seattle v. Stalsbrotten*, 138 Wash.2d 227, 978 P.2d 1059, 1065 (1999); *State v. Mallick*, 210 Wis.2d 427, 565 N.W.2d 245, 248 (1997); *State v. Mellett*, 642 N.W.2d 779, 786 (Minn. Ct. App. 2002). The reasoning varies and the applicable statutes vary as some states require that a driver submit to a field sobriety test. Each case must be read closely accounting for the different factors.

In South Carolina the legislature, unlike many other states, has specifically recognized that a driver does not have to take a field sobriety test. As noted previously, the legislature specifically held that a refusal to take a field sobriety test cannot be used as a charge for the failure to obey a law enforcement officer. Not every state has such a provision.

Many states make an analogy between admitting evidence of a refusal to take a breath test and the refusal to take a field sobriety test. Such an analogy is false. As has been noted by one court "Experts in the areas of drunk driving apprehension, prosecution, and defense all

² The Oregon statute was later amended to require that a driver submit to a field sobriety test.

appear to agree that the reliability of field sobriety test results does indeed turn upon the degree to which police comply with standardized testing procedures.” *State v. Homan*, 89 Ohio St. 3d 421, 425, 732 N.E.2d 952, 956 (2000). Thus, a field sobriety test may be subject to some subjectivity. As noted previously, failure to perform well on a field sobriety test may be subject to other factors such as age and dexterity. A breath test is used to determine only one fact - the blood alcohol level in a subject. When the test is done correctly, there is no subjective opinion about the result. The reading is entirely objective.

Some states also hold that a field sobriety test is not testimonial and does not violate a driver’s right against self incrimination. That issue is not before this court as no test was taken in this case. The refusal to take a test, however, is in fact testimonial. To establish the fact that a refusal is testimonial one need to look no further than a typical closing argument in such a case - “only a drunk would refuse a field sobriety test.” The state argues that a driver has admitted they are drunk when they refused the test. If non-testimonial, how then can the state argue he refused because he knew he was too drunk to pass the tests? The State is arguing that the driver has testified by simply saying “no.” The refusal is, therefore, testimonial.

In South Carolina the driver has the right either implicitly, because the legislature has provided no punishment for a refusal to take a field sobriety test, or explicitly because the legislature has provided that such action cannot be used as a basis for a failure to obey a lawful command. Either way, the right to refuse exists in South Carolina. Either way, a driver cannot be punished for invoking a right he has. To do so is to “keep the promise to the ear and break it to the hope.” *State v. Prescott*, 125 S.C. 22, ___, 117 S.E. 637, 638 (1923).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the decision of the lower court should be reversed and the ruling of the magistrate's court affirmed.

November 30, 2016



C. RAUCH WISE
305 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
(864) 229-5010
Rauchwise@gmail.com
S. C. Bar № 06188

Attorney for Maria Martin

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Case No 2016-000745

RECEIVED

DEC 05 2016

SC Court of Appeals

The State, Respondent,