ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenwood County
Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2016-000745

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Maria Todd Martin,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

DEC 08 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenwood County
Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The circuit court properly considered the State's appeal of the magistrate's suppression of Appellant's clearly voluntary statements as well as the suppression of her refusal to take field sobriety tests because the ruling significantly impaired the State's ability to prosecute the case.

- II. The circuit court correctly determined the magistrate erred in suppressing clearly voluntary statements as well as Appellant's refusal to take field sobriety tests.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State agrees with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The circuit court properly considered the State's appeal of the magistrate's suppression of Appellant's clearly voluntary statements as well as the suppression of her refusal to take field sobriety tests because the ruling significantly impaired the State's ability to prosecute the case.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in considering the State's appeal of the magistrate court's suppression of statements made by Appellant and her refusal to participate in field sobriety tests offered by Trooper Sinclair. She asserts the appeal was not proper under State v. Samuel, 411 S.C. 602, 769 S.E.2d 662 (2015) and State v. McKnight, 287 S.C. 167, 337 S.E.2d 208 (1985), because the ruling did not significantly impact the State's ability to prosecute the case. The circuit court correctly determined it could consider the State's appeal because the ruling suppressing clearly voluntary statements, as well as Appellant's refusal to take field sobriety tests, significantly impacted the State's ability to prosecute the case.

Pursuant to section 14-3-330 of the South Carolina Code:

The Supreme Court shall have appellate jurisdiction for correction of errors of law in law cases, and shall review upon appeal:

(2) An order affecting a substantial right made in an action when such order (a) in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action, (b) grants or refuses a new trial or (c) strikes out an answer or any part thereof or any pleading in any action

S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2) (1976). The South Carolina Supreme Court "has interpreted the appealability statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330 (1976), to allow the immediate appeal of pre-trial orders which would significantly impair the prosecution of a criminal case." State v. Sterling, 377 S.C. 475, 478, 661 S.E.2d 99, 100-01 (2008). Specifically, the South Carolina Supreme Court has found: "A pre-trial order granting the suppression of evidence which significantly impairs the prosecution of a criminal case is directly appealable under S.C. Code

Ann. § 14-3-330(2)(a) (1976).” State v. McKnight, 287 S.C. 167, 168, 337 S.E.2d 208, 209 (1985). “Allowing the interlocutory appeal serves the State’s interest in enforcing its criminal laws because the suppression order, even if erroneous, could result in an acquittal from which the State could not appeal. An interlocutory appeal allows the appellate court to correct any erroneous order of suppression.” William S. McAninch, Unfolding the Law of Double Jeopardy, 44 S.C. L. Rev. 411 (1993).

In the instant case, the magistrate suppressed Appellant’s refusal to take the field sobriety tests offered by Trooper Sinclair. Even more significant, the magistrate suppressed Appellant’s statements made in refusing the field sobriety tests, which included what amounted to a confession of her intoxication. In declining to perform the field sobriety test, Appellant stated: “No. If I was straight, I couldn’t pass it.” (Roadside Video; Order of Judge Martin, p.2; R. 55). The suppression of these items, most notably Appellant’s confession, significantly impacted the State’s ability to prosecute the case.

Appellant contends this case is similar to the South Carolina Supreme Court’s recent case in Samuel, where the Supreme Court found the State was not entitled to appeal the suppression of one statement made by the appellant. In that case, however, the State had multiple other statements which were not suppressed in which the identical or more significant evidence could be presented. As the Supreme Court found in ruling the suppression did not substantially impair the State’s ability to prosecute the case: “Petitioner’s statements made subsequent to Statement 1 were admitted by the trial court. Because those statements supplied essentially the same information and confession as Statement 1, the suppression of Statement 1 did not significantly impair the prosecution’s ability to try Petitioner’s case.” Samuel, 411 S.C. at 605, 769 S.E.2d at 663. The same is not true in this case. The one and only statement by Appellant which was a

confession was suppressed. The State did not have comparable evidence to admit and certainly did not have the cumulative evidence of other statements as found in Samuel.

Instead, this case is more comparable to other cases appealed by the State which were allowed to proceed. For example, in State v. Jansen, 305 S.C. 320, 408 S.E.2d 235 (1991)¹, the magistrate suppressed the defendant's refusal to take the breathalyzer test. Id. at 321, 408 S.E.2d at 235. The State appealed to both the circuit court and Supreme Court. The Supreme Court considered the appeal and ultimately reversed, thereby finding it had appellate jurisdiction to consider the appeal because the suppression significantly impaired the State's ability to prosecute the case. Id. at 323, 408 S.E.2d at 237; see also, State v. Landon, 370 S.C. 103, 634 S.E.2d 660 (2006) (State's appeal of the suppression of breath test results allowed to proceed and considered by Supreme Court). The suppression of a defendant's refusal to take the breath test or the breath test results was sufficient to significantly impair the State's ability to prosecute. The same holding should apply to the refusal to submit to field sobriety tests, especially when one of the refusals indicated: "If I was straight, I couldn't pass it."

In State v. Henry, this Court specifically considered the issue of the State's ability to appeal under State v. McKnight, 287 S.C. 167, 337 S.E.2d 208 (1985). State v. Henry, 313 S.C. 106, 107, 432 S.E.2d 489, 490 (Ct. App. 1993). In Henry, the defendant was charged with sexual crimes against one of his step-daughters and the State sought to admit testimony by two other step-daughters to establish a common scheme or plan. The circuit court suppressed the Lyle evidence by the other step-daughters and the State appealed. This Court found the suppression of the Lyle evidence significantly impaired the ability of the State to prosecute the case against the defendant. In the case, this Court explained: "Henry argues that the State can

¹ This case occurred prior to any reference by section 56-5-2950 of the use of a defendant's refusal at trial. See S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950(B) (1991). Therefore, the significance of this case is not created by the statute's reference to the right to admit the refusal at trial.

obtain a conviction without the subject testimony and, therefore, the exclusion of such evidence does not significantly impair the prosecution of the case. We disagree and hold that the suppression of the subject testimony would significantly impair the State's case." Id. at 108, 432 S.E.2d at 490.

Similarly, in the case *sub judice*, Appellant contends the State has other evidence it can put before the jury so it should be required to proceed to trial and not be allowed to appeal. If the standard required the State to not be able to prosecute its case in total or was such that the suppressed evidence would have to require the State to not be able to survive directed verdict then the standard would not be as announced in McKnight. The Supreme Court recognized the value and fairness in allowing the State to challenge suppression, even when it did not completely end its ability to prosecute a case. If the suppression of Lyle testimony is sufficient to significantly impact the State's ability to prosecute a case, then the suppression of the one and only confession by the defendant, as well as the fact that she chose to refuse the field sobriety tests, certainly significantly impacts the State's ability to prosecute this case. Additionally, as stated before, this case is significantly different from Samuel because in Samuel there were multiple confessions and only one suppressed. Here the one statement which could be construed as a confession, as well as other very significant non-cumulative evidence, was suppressed, which should allow the State to appeal the magistrate's determination.

Appellant contends the fact the State attempted to prosecute the case the first time the magistrate suppressed the evidence and the trial ended in a hung jury and mistrial indicates it can be prosecuted. The fact the State could conceivably bring the charges and have evidence sufficient to survive a directed verdict motion should not bar a State's appeal. The fact the State presented all of its remaining evidence, including the evidence from the Trooper's testimony,

and trial ended in a hung jury, demonstrates the significant impairment placed on the State by the magistrate's suppression of Appellant's confession.

Accordingly, under the standard of McKnight, the suppression of this evidence significantly impaired the State's ability to prosecute the case and the circuit court properly concluded the appeal should be allowed to proceed.

II. The circuit court correctly determined the magistrate erred in suppressing clearly voluntary statements as well as Appellant's refusal to take field sobriety tests.

Appellant maintains the trial court erred reversing the magistrate's decision to suppress Appellant's refusal to take the field sobriety tests offered by Trooper Sinclair. She asserts construction of the various DUI related statutes indicate the refusal should not be admissible at trial. Further, she contends she has a right to remain silent and not to provide evidence against herself by having her refusal and possible confession presented to the jury. The statutes do not prohibit the admission of a refusal to take the field sobriety tests, nor do they in any way establish what evidence is or is not admissible. Additionally, Appellant voluntarily made the statements to Trooper Sinclair, especially her commentary that she could not pass the field sobriety tests if she "was straight." Finally, she is not being compelled to offer testimony against herself through her voluntary statements and answers to routine questions regarding taking a field sobriety test.

First, the South Carolina statutes related to DUI do not prohibit the admission of Appellant's refusal to take the field sobriety tests, nor does a proper statutory construction of the various statutes at issue. "It is unlawful for a person to drive a motor vehicle within this State while under the influence of alcohol to the extent that the person's faculties to drive a motor vehicle are materially and appreciably impaired" S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2930 (Supp. 2012).

Pursuant to section 56-5-2953:

(A) A person who violates Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 must have his conduct at the incident site and the breath test site video recorded.

(1)(a) The video recording at the incident site must:

(i) not begin later than the activation of the officer's blue lights;

(ii) include any field sobriety tests administered; and

(iii) include the arrest of a person for a violation of Section 56-5-2930 or Section 56-5-2933, or a probable cause determination in that the person violated Section 56-5-2945, and show the person being advised of his Miranda rights.

(b) A refusal to take a field sobriety test does not constitute disobeying a police command.

(3) The video recordings of the incident site and of the breath test site are admissible pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Evidence in a criminal, administrative, or civil proceeding by any party to the action.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953 (A)(1) and (3) (Supp. 2012). While field sobriety tests can be refused for a suspected DUI, if a death is caused by the motor vehicle, the legislature has made field sobriety tests mandatory.² See S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2948 (Supp. 2012).

Further, Appellant referenced section 56-5-2950(B), a portion of the implied consent statute, to demonstrate that the legislature knows how to make a refusal to take a test admissible because it made the refusal to take a breath test or other test admissible. However, a proper reading of the statute in question demonstrates it does not make the refusal to take a test admissible, but instead acknowledges evidence of the refusal is **already** admissible at trial and requires law enforcement to provide notice of that fact prior to administering the test. See S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950(B) (Supp. 2012) (“No tests may be administered or samples obtained unless, upon activation of the video recording equipment and prior to the commencement of the testing procedure, the person has been given a written copy of and verbally informed that: (1) the person does not have to take the test or give the samples, but that the person’s privilege to drive

² It is interesting to note that the legislature has attached no penalty to the refusal to take the field sobriety tests in section 56-5-2948. One of Appellant’s arguments is that the refusal to submit to field sobriety tests is not admissible for a stop for DUI because there is no penalty attached to their refusal. The same would equally apply to a refusal to take field sobriety tests requested at a felony DUI incident site, which Appellant seems to argue would be admissible. (App. Br. 6, 10).

must be suspended or denied for at least six months with the option of ending the suspension if the person enrolls in the Ignition Interlock Device Program, if the person refuses to submit to the test, and that the person's refusal may be used against the person in court”). The statute clearly does not make the refusal admissible; it merely requires notice of its admissibility. The State agrees no statute requires notice of the admissibility of a refusal prior to administering field sobriety tests. However, just as in the case of a refusal to perform the breath test, no statute exists making the refusal admissible and no statute exists indicating the refusal is not admissible.

The legislature has made it clear that the video and everything on it are admissible unless the evidence is prohibited by constitution, statute, or rule. See S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(A)(3). Appellant’s argument that a portion of the video should be treated differently under the statute from the rest of the video based on an improper statutory construction is without merit. Further, no constitutional, statutory, or rule of evidence prevents the admission of the refusal to submit to field sobriety tests.

Appellant contends the refusal to submit to the field sobriety tests should be suppressed because it is testimonial and because it places the defendant in a difficult position. The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that “[n]o person . . . shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself” U.S. Const. amend. V. The South Carolina Constitution contains identical language. See S.C. Const. art. I, § 12. Admitting evidence that a defendant refused to take a field sobriety test violates her right against self-incrimination only if (1) the refusal evidence is testimonial and (2) the evidence is impermissibly compelled by the State. The refusal is not testimonial in nature nor is it being compelled by State action.

Refusal is not Testimonial

The refusal to take a field sobriety test is not of a testimonial or communicative nature. The privilege against self-incrimination “protects an accused only from being compelled to testify against himself, or otherwise provide the State with evidence of a **testimonial or communicative nature.**” Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 761 (1966) (emphasis added). “[I]n order to be testimonial, an accused’s communication must itself, explicitly or implicitly, relate a factual assertion or disclose information.” Doe v. United States, 487 U.S. 201, 210 (1988). In Holt v. United States, 218 U.S. 245 (1910), the USSC stated:

[T]he prohibition of compelling a man in a criminal court to be witness against himself is a prohibition of the use of physical or moral compulsion to extort communications from him, not an exclusion of his body as evidence when it may be material. The objection in principle would forbid a jury to look at a prisoner and compare his features with a photograph in proof. Moreover, we need not consider how far a court would go in compelling a man to exhibit himself. For when he is exhibited, whether voluntarily or by order, and even if the order goes too far, the evidence, if material, is competent.

Id. at 252-253. The Court further explained in Schmerber:

[C]ourts have usually held that [the privilege] offers no protection against compulsion to submit to fingerprinting, photographing, or measurements, to write or speak for identification, to appear in court, to stand, to assume a stance, to walk, or to make a particular gesture. The distinction which has emerged ... is that the privilege is a bar against compelling “communications” or “testimony,” but that compulsion which makes a suspect or accused the source of “real or physical evidence” does not violate it.

Schmerber, 384 U.S. at 764.

Field Sobriety tests, like the examples provided by the USSC in Schmerber are not testimonial in nature. Instead, they are physical tests designed to convey “real or physical

evidence” and not thoughts, communications, or the subjective beliefs of the defendant.³ As the Supreme Court of South Dakota explained:

Dexterity tests are real physical evidence and are not protected by the constitutional privilege against self-incrimination. These tests are based on the loss of coordination, balance and dexterity that results from intoxication, they do not force the subject to betray his subjective knowledge of the crime through communication or testimony. These tests merely compel the suspect to demonstrate his physical characteristics and condition at that time as a source of real or physical evidence to which observers may testify.

State v. Roadifer, 346 N.W.2d 438, 440 (S.D. 1984). “Field sobriety tests are not testimonial in nature because the suspect does not intend to convey a statement as to his or her state of sobriety by performing the test. Furthermore, field sobriety tests involve no requirement that the suspect make admissions or respond to police inquiries regarding prior alcohol use.” State v. Babbitt, 525 N.W.2d 102, 106 (Wis. Ct. App. 1994). As the Supreme Court of Colorado explained: “we note that the courts in a large number of states have considered the issue before us and nearly all have held that the roadside sobriety test does not compel a confession from its subject.” People v. Ramirez, 199 Colo. 367, 374, 609 P.2d 616, 620 (1980) *disapproved of on other grounds by People v. Archuleta*, 719 P.2d 1091 (Colo. 1986). The Ramirez court cited to nearly twenty other states that have concluded field sobriety tests are not testimonial in nature. Id. at 620, n.8; but see, State v. Fish, 893 P.2d 1023, 1029-1030 (Or. 1995) (finding under Oregon’s constitution limited types of field sobriety tests and the refusal to perform those tests can be considered testimonial).⁴

³ Appellant contends the determination of whether field sobriety tests are testimonial is a question for another day. However, for this Court to properly analyze the question of whether the refusal is testimonial a decision must be made on the status of the tests themselves. Appellant’s conclusory statement that the refusal is clearly testimonial notwithstanding any determination by this Court related to the testimonial nature of the tests is without merit.

⁴ The State can find no cases in the country ruling a defendant’s performance on the HGN, walk and turn, or one leg stand tests—the three most commonly used tests in South Carolina—is testimonial in nature. The State also notes that the majority of cases have distinguished Fish and come to a different conclusion regarding the testimonial nature of even the field sobriety tests at issue in that case.

The refusal to submit to a field sobriety test offers no more of a communication or testimony than does the submission to, and performance on, the field sobriety test. “[T]he physical dexterity tests are not ‘evidence of a testimonial or communicative nature within the privilege against self-incrimination’ and are not within the scope of the Miranda⁵ decision and the Fifth Amendment. Therefore, the admission of evidence of defendant’s refusal to submit to such tests does not violate his constitutional right against self-incrimination.” State v. Flannery, 230 S.E.2d 603, 607 (N.C. App. 1976).

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